
  
    

 
 
 
 

Docket No. 981-24 
Ref: Signature Date            

DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY 
BOARD FOR CORRECTION OF NAVAL RECORDS 

701 S. COURTHOUSE ROAD, SUITE 1001 
ARLINGTON, VA  22204-2490 

 
From:  Chairman, Board for Correction of Naval Records 
To:     Secretary of the Navy 
 
Subj: REVIEW OF NAVAL RECORD OF   
            . XXX XX / USMC (RET)  
 
Ref: (a) 10 U.S.C. § 1552 

(b) USD (P&R) Memo, “Guidance to Military Discharge Review Boards and Boards for  
      Correction of Military / Naval Records Regarding Equity, Injustice, or Clemency   
      Determinations,” 25 July 2018 

 
Encl:   (1) DD Form 149 with enclosures 
 (2) SECDEF Memo, subj: Mandatory Coronavirus Disease 2019 Vaccination of  
       Department of Defense Service Members, 24 Aug 21 
 (3) ALNAV 062/21, subj: 2021-2022 Department of the Navy Mandatory COVID-19  
       Vaccination Policy, dtg 302126Z AUG 21 
 (4) MARADMIN 462/21, subj: Mandatory COVID-19 Vaccination of Marine Corps  
       Active and Reserve Components, dtg 011400Z SEP 21 
 (5) Petitioner’s Retirement Preapplication Checklist, 1 Sep 21 
 (6) Administrative Remarks (Page 11) entry of 23 Sep 21 
 (7) MARADMIN 533/21, subj: Supplemental Guidance to Mandatory COVID-19  
       Vaccination of Marine Corps Active and Reserve Components, dtg 061806Z OCT 21 
 (8) MARADMIN 612/21, subj: Supplemental Guidance (2) to Mandatory COVID-19  
       Vaccination of Marine Corps Active and Reserve Components, dtg 222100Z OCT 21 
 (9)  DD Form 214 
 (10) SECDEF Memo, subj: Rescission of August 24, 2021 and November 30, 2021  
         Coronavirus Disease 2019 Vaccination Requirements for Members of the Armed  
         Forces, 10 Jan 23 
 (11) MARADMIN 025/23, subj: Rescission of COVID-19 Vaccination Requirement,  
         dtg 181130Z JAN 23 
 (12) ALNAV 009/23, subj: Rescission of COVID-19 Vaccination Requirement for  
         Members of the Armed Forces, dtg 201839Z JAN 23 
 (13) MARADMIN 109/23, subj: Update to Mandatory COVID-19 Vaccination  
         Requirement of Marine Corps Active and Reserve Components,  
         dtg 272000Z FEB 23 
   
1.  Pursuant to the provisions of reference (a), Subject, hereinafter referred to as Petitioner, filed 
enclosure (1) with the Board for Correction of Naval Records, hereinafter referred to as the 
Board, requesting removal from his naval record of NAVMC 118 (“Page 11”) entries related to 
refusal of the former COVID-19 vaccination mandate.      
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vaccination no later than 28 December 2021.3  MARADMIN 462/21 further specified that this 
mandate “constitutes a lawful general order and any violations of these provisions is punishable 
as a violation of Article 92 of [the UCMJ].”  It further provided that initial disposition authority 
for cases arising from refusal of this order is withheld to the general court-martial convening 
authority level, “except that administrative counseling pursuant to paragraph 6105 of [reference 
(b)] may be used at the special court-martial convening authority level.”  See enclosure (4).   
 
     e.  On or about 1 September 2021, Petitioner submitted a retirement application expressing 
his intent to retire effective 30 September 2022 in order to “conclude his service after 20 years.”  
See enclosure (5).   
 
     f.  On 23 September 2021, Petitioner was counseled regarding the requirement of 
MARADMIN 462/21 for all Marines to be fully vaccinated against COVID-19 unless a medical 
or administrative waiver is granted.  He was also informed that MARADMIN 462/21 constitutes 
a lawful general order and that any violations of its provisions are punishable as a violation of 
Article 92, UCMJ.  This counseling was recorded on a NAVMC 118(11), and Petitioner 
acknowledged it by signature dated 29 September 2021.  See enclosure (6).   
 
     g.  On 7 October 2021, the Marine Corps published MARADMIN 533/21 to supplement the 
guidance of MARADMIN 462/21 referenced in paragraph 3d above.  This message specified 
that “[i]n order to meet Commandant-directed deadlines as stated in [MARADMIN 462/21], all 
Active Component Service Members must receive their first dose of Pfizer-BioNTech/ 
COMIRNATY vaccine no later than 24 October 2021 and all Reserve Component Service 
Members must receive their first dose no later than 24 November 2021.”  It further specified that 
all Active Component Marines must receive their second dose no later than 14 November 2021, 
while all Reserve Component Marines must receive their second dose no later than 14 December 
2021.  The message also provided guidance for recording vaccine refusals in the Medical 
Readiness Reporting System and advised that adverse administrative or judicial proceedings may 
be initiated in accordance with the authorities delineated in MARADMIN 462/21 when a Marine 
has refused to take the vaccine, and that “[t]here is no requirement to delay action until the 
deadlines established in [MARADMIN 462/21].”  See enclosure (7). 
 
     h.  On 23 October 2021, the Marine Corps published MARADMIN 612/21 to further 
supplement the guidance of MARADMIN 462/21 referenced in paragraph 3d above.  This 
message provided guidance that “Marines refusing the COVID-19 vaccination, absent an 
approved administrative or medical exemption, religious accommodation, or pending appeal 
shall be processed for administrative separation.”  It further clarified that, in most cases, Marines 
will be ordered to begin the vaccination process before the deadlines established in 
MARADMIN 462/21, and that a Marine is considered to have “refused the vaccine” when they 
do not have an approved administrative or medical exemption, religious accommodation, or 
pending appeal, and they (1) received and willfully disobeyed a lawful order from a superior 
commissioned officer to be vaccinated against COVID-19; or (2) they are not or will not be fully 
vaccinated by the deadline established in MARADMIN 462/21.  Finally, this message 
established restrictions upon the assignments available to, ability to reenlist or execute 

                       
3 This date was 120 days from issuance of ALNAV 062/21 (see paragraph 3c above). 
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     o.  Petitioner contends that relief is warranted because MARADMIN 109/23 provides that 
“[a]dverse material related to the COVID-19 vaccine requirement shall not be included in the 
Marine’s official military personnel file (OMPF).”  See enclosure (1).   
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Upon careful review and consideration of all the evidence of record, the Board determined that 
equitable relief is warranted in the interests of justice. 
 
The Board found no error in the issuance and filing of the NAVMC 118(11) in Petitioner’s naval 
record.  The only relevant NAVMC 118(11) entry in Petitioner’s naval record is not adverse; it 
merely informed Petitioner of the vaccination requirement and warned him of the consequences 
of noncompliance.  The COVID-19 vaccination mandate was a lawful order and the refusal to 
comply constituted a violation of Article 92, UCMJ.  Accordingly, there is no error in a NAVMC 
118(11) entry which merely informed Petitioner of the requirement and the consequences of 
noncompliance.  There also would be no error in recording an actual violation of the mandate in 
this manner if that were the intent of this entry.    
 
Petitioner’s contention that MARADMIN 109/23 directed the removal of adverse material 
related to refusal of the COVID-19 vaccine mandate is without merit, because the NAVMC 
118(11) in question was not adverse as discussed above and MARADMIN 109/23 only directed 
removal of such matters from the records of those Marines who had requested religious 
accommodation or sought and exemption from the vaccination mandate on medical or 
administrative grounds.  There is no indication in the record that Petitioner was among the 
Marines who sought such an accommodation or exemption.     
 
Despite finding no error in the issuance and filing of the NAVMC 118(11) at issue, the Board 
determined that it should be removed from Petitioner’s naval record in the interests of justice.  
Although the entry in question does not suggest that Petitioner actually refused the vaccination 
mandate, the Board found that its presence in Petitioner’s record reasonably implies that he did 
so and could therefore have a negative effect.  Reference (b) provides that the Board must 
consider “changes in policy, whereby a Service member under the same circumstances today 
would reasonably be expected to receive a more favorable outcome than the applicant received” 
in determining whether to grant relief on the basis of an injustice.5  Given the change in the law, 
a Marine would not reasonably expect to receive a similar type of entry in his record under 
similar circumstances today that Petitioner received in 2021.  The Board found that this disparity 
in treatment was worthy of favorable consideration and believed that the interests of justice 
warranted the removal of this potentially stigmatizing entry from Petitioner’s naval record.     
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
In view of the above, the Board recommends the following corrective action be taken upon 
Petitioner’s naval record in the interests of justice: 

                       
5 Although reference (b) applies primarily in the context of discharge upgrade cases, it specifically states that its 
guidance “applies to any other corrections … which may be warranted on equity or relief from injustice grounds.”   








